
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Gravesham Joint 
Transportation Board

Members of the Gravesham Joint Transportation Board are summoned to attend a meeting to 
be held at the Civic Centre, Gravesend, Kent on Wednesday, 6 June 2018 at 7.30 pm when the 
business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted.

S Kilkie
Assistant Director (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. Minutes (Pages 3 - 10)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or those (if any) in Part B in public 

5. Gravesham Highway Works Programme June 2018 (Pages 11 - 20)

6. To consider the original JTB Legal Agreement between KCC and GBC with 
the view to amending it to include some guidance/protocol for petitions 
coming to the Board. The Board can agree to adopt GBC's procedural rules 
with regards to petitions or review the agreement (this item was requested 
at the previous meeting of the Board - minute 73). 

(Pages 21 - 32)

7. Update on the Town Centre Controlled Parking Zone Review (Pages 33 - 36)

8. Discussion - Speeding Vehicles Exiting from Dering Way on Lion Garage 
Roundabout 

Public Document Pack



9. Any Other Business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

10.Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of the business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B 
Items likely to be considered in Private

None.

Members

County Councillor Alan Michael Ridgers (Chair)
Cllr Lesley Boycott (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Rob Halpin
Leslie Hills
Peter Scollard
Robin Theobald
Tan Dhesi (KCC)
Diane Marsh (KCC)
Lauren Sullivan (KCC)
Bryan Sweetland (KCC)



1

Gravesham Joint Transportation Board

Wednesday, 14 March 2018 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Lesley Boycott (Chair)
County Councillor Alan Michael Ridgers (Vice-Chair)

Councillors:
Leslie Hills
Peter Scollard
Robin Theobald 
Diane Marsh (KCC) 
Lauren Sullivan (KCC)
Bryan Sweetland (KCC)

Carol Valentine Highways Manager (KCC)  
Earl Bourner Gravesham District Manager (KCC)
Nick May Parking Manager (GBC)
Chris Wakeford Committee Services Officer, Scrutiny (Minutes)  

Susan Lindley

Michael Jennings
Christine Gayle

Shorne Parish Council

Arriva – Commercial Manager
Arriva - Northfleet General Manager

68. Apologies 

Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Colin Caller, Cllr Tan Dhesi (KCC) and Parish 
Councillor Pat Luxford (Meopham)

69. Minutes 

The Chair explained that the attendance list on the minutes had been corrected by replacing 
Linda Carnell (Higham Parish Council) and Sheila Buchanan (Meopham Parish Council) with 
Elizabeth Jeffrey (Higham Parish Council) and Pat Luxford (Meopham Parish Council)

The Minutes of the meeting held on 6 December 2017 were signed by the Chair.

70. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made.    

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 14.03.2018

2

71. Arriva Bus Routes in Gravesham - General Discussion 

The Board welcomed the Arriva Commercial Manager and Arriva Northfleet General 
Manager and discussed Arriva Bus Routes in Gravesham.

The Arriva Commercial Manager highlighted the following:

 There are 174 drivers in Northfleet and 70 vehicles
 The Biggest challenge is traffic; it is very unpredictable, the A2 / Dartford Crossing is 

an issue which makes journeys longer and less predictable so more buses are 
required.

 95% of services are commercial 

County Councillor Bryan Sweetland explained that he had attended a meeting earlier today 
with Borough Councillors and members of the public where an Arriva representative 
answered questions and the following issues were discussed:

 Issues with the 306 and 308 route
 Punctuality issues
 The fact that people now have to change buses for Bluewater access
 Difficulty getting to Darent Valley Hospital 
 No Sunday Service anymore

The Arriva representative said that he would take back the issues raised and look into a 
change in timetable to assist with the punctuality problem.

The Arriva Commercial Manager highlighted the following:
 Arriva look at the timetable for the 306 and 308 every year but it almost becomes out 

of date as soon as it’s finalised due to traffic issues.
 The biggest challenge is the size of the route – it’s hard to catch up when there are 

delays.
 The Bluewater service was cancelled due to the volume of traffic.
 Darent Valley Hospital is challenging to serve; there’s a balance to be struck there.
 The 306 and 308 don’t make Arriva any money; the Sunday service was not used 

enough so it was withdrawn.
 Evenings are another challenge; they’re not very attractive to people, it’s hard getting 

the amount of buses right.

The Arriva Commercial Manager fielded questions from the Board and highlighted the 
following:

 Arriva has a Punctuality Improvement Partnership with KCC that looks at junctions 
and hotspots.

 Arriva work with railway stations where they can but there are too many on the 306 
and 308 route.

 90% to 95% of Arriva drivers do a good job but they could perhaps be friendlier; this 
will be fed back. Arriva drivers do undertake training including customer service and 
disability awareness training.

Page 4



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 14.03.2018

3

 Hard copies of bus timetables are still produced and placed in locations such as 
Gravesend library.

 The driver is half the cost of running a bus.

The Arriva Commercial Manager agreed to pass on the performance percentage for the 306 
and 308 route to the Board and advised that it definitely wasn’t hitting 95%.

The Arriva Commercial Manager and Northfleet General Manager requested that their email 
addresses be circulated to the Board for future use. The Committee Services Officer 
undertook to pass on the contact details.

The Board thanked the Arriva Commercial Manager and Northfleet General Manager for 
attending the meeting.

72. Gravesham Highway Works Programme 2017/18 

The Gravesham District Manager presented a report to the Board updating Members on the 
schemes that have been programmed for delivery in 2017/18, including:

 Footway and Carriageway Improvement Schemes 
 Drainage Repairs & Improvements 
 Street Lighting
 Transportation and Safety Schemes 

- Casualty Reduction Measures
- Externally funded schemes
- Local Growth Fund

 Developer Funded Works
 Bridge Works
 Traffic Systems
 Combined Member Fund 

The Board discussed the Highways Works Programme and the following was agreed:

 The Gravesham District Manager agreed to provide further details on the Lion 
Roundabout Developer Funded Works and look into speeding vehicles from Dering 
Way

 The Gravesham District Manager agreed to look into the coordination of works 
(drainage and road resurfacing) in Forge Lane, Shorne.

 The Gravesham District Manager agreed to come back to the Board with further 
details about the Cyclopark works. 

The Gravesham District Manager explained that Nikola Floodgate, Schemes Planning & 
Delivery Manager, has confirmed that yellow lines won’t be funded generally anymore. 
However; if there is a crash cluster and yellow lines are needed on safety grounds Kent 
Highways will do them.

The Highways Manager explained that regular monthly meetings are held with the police; 
each highways incident is looked at in great detail and if the police think Kent Highways 
should take action they provide recommendations. Kent Highways do not receive many 
recommendations because many accidents are due to driver behaviour.

Page 5



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 14.03.2018

4

The Board congratulated Kent Highways for their good work during the period of heavy snow 
and requested that their thanks be passed back to the relevant teams.

Resolved that the Board noted the information contained within the report and agreed the 
following:

 The Gravesham District Manager provide further details to the Board on the Lion 
Roundabout Developer Funded Works and look into speeding vehicles from Dering Way

 The Gravesham District Manager look into the coordination of works (drainage and road 
resurfacing) in Forge Lane, Shorne.

 The Gravesham District Manager to come back to the Board with further details about 
the Cyclopark works. 

73. Petitions from residents at the JTB (KCC Petition Scheme) 

County Cllr Bryan Sweetland explained that he had asked that this matter come to the Board 
to clarify the Boards position on petitions and to put forward his view that the Board should 
be happy to accept petitions from residents; especially as some areas / villages are too small 
to meet the requested amount of signatures for certain petition schemes. 

The Gravesham District Manager highlighted the KCC Petition Scheme to the Board and 
explained the current KCC process for petitions, so future petitions can be forwarded to KCC 
to follow the correct format for a formal response.  

The Highways Manager explained that Joint Transportation Board agreements are not 
standard so the Board could look at their agreement and work with KCC on this matter.

County Cllr Diane Marsh highlighted the value of petitions and explained that the work to 
achieve speed reduction at Valley Drive had begun with a petition.

The Board discussed the subject of Petitions at JTB and agreed that they’d like to look at the 
original JTB Legal Agreement between KCC and GBC and amend it to include some 
guidance / protocol for Petitions coming to the Board.

Resolved that the Board look at the original JTB Legal Agreement between KCC and GBC 
with the view to amending it to include some guidance / protocol for Petitions coming to the 
Board. The Board will discuss this matter further at its next meeting.

74. Petition - Speed Limits and Traffic Calming in The Ridgeway and Pear 
Tree Lane - Request from Cllr Robin Theobald 

The Board received a petition signed by 228 Shorne residents, presented by Cllr Robin 
Theobald, to implement traffic calming and extended 30 mph speed limits in The Ridgeway 
and Pear Tree Lane in an effort to make the road safer for residents, pedestrians and other 
road users. 

Page 6



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 14.03.2018

5

Cllr Robin Theobald clarified that action on this matter has already begun with Kent 
Highways putting down speed monitors and County Cllr Bryan Sweetland agreeing to fund 
the scheme. Therefore; Cllr Robin Theobald asked the Board to endorse the petition but 
note that action is already taking place.

Resolved that the Board unanimously endorse the petition to KCC to implement traffic 
calming and extended 30 mph speed limits in The Ridgeway and Pear Tree Lane and note 
the work that has already begun.

75. Parking in Pitfield Drive (junction A227), Meopham - request from KCC 
Cllr Bryan Sweetland 

County Cllr Bryan Sweetland, on behalf of the residents at Pitfield Drive and Meopham 
Parish Council, highlighted the parking problems in Pitfield Drive (junction A227), Meopham 
for discussion by the Board.

The Board discussed the best way forward with this matter and agreed that a letter from the 
Enforcement Team (KCC Kent Highways) placed on the inappropriately parked cars would 
be the best option.

The Gravesham District Manager agreed to take this matter forward and produce an 
appropriate letter template.

Resolved that the Board agreed that a letter from KCC Kent Highways Enforcement Team 
be drafted to discourage inappropriate parking in Pitfield Drive, Meopham

76. New traffic system following the Rathmore Road development in 
Gravesend - General Discussion - request from Cllr Leslie Hills 

Cllr Leslie Hills highlighted the issues with the new traffic system following the Rathmore 
Road development in Gravesend. 

The Gravesham District Manager provided the Board with the following update: 

Update from Richard Shelton Project Manager for KCC responsible for 
the delivery of Rathmore Road Scheme, questions from John Pexton 
Project Manager GBC

1. Q: Vehicles back up in Wrotham Road from its junction with Rathmore 
Road, round Woodville Place and back to Lord Street. Part of this appears 
to be linked to traffic queuing at the traffic lights at the Rathmore Road I 
Darnley Road junction. Are the timings reasonable on those lights or does 
the time they are green need extending. The knock on impact is rat running 
through Cobham or Darnley Street (whichever one allows traffic to drive 
westward). 

A: The traffic systems engineers have recently increased the green time at 
this Junction to aid traffic flow, is there still an issue here.

Page 7



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 14.03.2018

6

2. Q: Some of the tailback in Wrotham Road is due to the hatching of the offside
'lane'. Cars stay to the left when they intend going straight ahead at the 
Rathmore Road junction towards Thamesgate, lengthening the queue here 
rather than spreading the weight across the two possible lanes. Safety is also 
compromised as some drivers (myself included) are aware that the hatching is 
edged by a broken rather than solid line, so driving over it is not an offence.  
This can cause issues when those in the left lane pull across at the end of the 
hatching without checking their mirrors, or they are unable to pull across due 
to traffic to their offside, resulting in them blocking the lane that turns into 
Rathmore Road. 

A: The comment is noted, although this had not previously been picked up as 
an issue. We will review to see if the traffic has become more aware of the 
layout and using the ahead lane for Thamesgate now that the layout has had 
a chance to bed in.

3. Q: When traffic tails back to Lord Street, drivers coming out of the lights there 
to head round to Rathmore Road, block the way for traffic heading south 
alongside community square, this in turn can back around railway place to 
Rathmore Road, resulting in a circular blockage with no-one able to move 
anywhere. A yellow box at the junction would assist.

A: I would be happy to install a yellow box at this junction if this is still 
perceived to be a problem now that the traffic has had time to become 
accustomed to the new layout. Subject to agreement from the District 
Manager.

4. Q: Finally there are times when traffic tails back from the lights at Railway 
Place, beyond the Rathmore Road junction. This prevents traffic joining 
Stone Street from Rathmore Road and has a knock-on impact into Wrotham 
Road. This may be an issue with traffic light timings but, again, maybe a 
yellow box(es) might assist?

A: Again I would be happy to install a yellow box at this junction if this is still 
perceived to be a problem now that the traffic has had time to become 
accustomed to the new layout. Subject to agreement from the District 
Manager.

From ITS Engineer Paul Thrower
Now that the Bath Street refurbishment works are finished (the new signal 
equipment was commissioned last Wednesday/ Thursday), we will be looking to 
make some changes within the next few weeks. We've ordered some additional 
detectors for the Darnley Road / Rathmore Road junction which should hold off 
the appearance of the pedestrian crossing phases until traffic has cleared the 
bridge (one of the numerous complaints that I've received), hopefully the new 
detectors should arrive within the next few weeks. Once the detectors have 
arrived we will also look to make some timing changes at the following junctions 
Rathmore Road/Darnley Road, Rathmore Road/ Wrotham Road, Darnley Road 
/ Bath Street and the Windmill Hill / Lord Street junction.

Page 8



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 14.03.2018

7

Resolved that the Board noted the update and ongoing monitoring / work as detailed above 
and agreed that the Gravesham District Manager look into the following:

 The removal of ‘hatching’ on the road at the back of the Civic Centre
 Discouraging traffic from using Stone Street
 Preventing cars going through the bus gate at Clive Road

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8.55 pm

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



To:             Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 

By:             KCC Highways, Transportation & Waste

Date: 6th June 2018

Subject:  Highway Works Programme 2018/19

Classification: Information Only 

Summary: This report updates Members on the identified schemes approved for 
construction in 2018/19

1. Introduction 

This report provides an update and summarises schemes that have been programmed 
for delivery in 2018/19

Footway and Carriageway Improvement Schemes – see Appendix A

Drainage Repairs & Improvements – see Appendix B

Street Lighting – see Appendix C

Transportation and Safety Schemes – see Appendix D
 Casualty Reduction Measures
 Externally funded schemes
 Local Growth Fund 

Developer Funded Works – see Appendix E

Bridge Works – see Appendix F

Traffic Systems – see Appendix G

Combined Member Fund – see Appendix H

Conclusion 

1. This report is for Members information.

Page 11 Agenda Item 5



Contact Officers:

The following contact officers can be contacted on 03000 418181
 
Carol Valentine Highway Manager West Kent
Earl Bourner Gravesham District Manager
Alan Casson                    Senior Asset Manager
Katie Moreton     Drainage & Structures Asset Manager
Sue Kinsella Street Light Asset Manager
Toby Butler Traffic & Network Solutions Asset Manager
Jamie Hare Development Agreements Manager
Emma Green Schemes Programme Manager

Page 12



Appendix A – Footway and Carriageway Improvement Schemes

The delivery of these schemes is weather dependent; should it prove not possible to carry out 
these works on the planned dates, new dates will be arranged and the residents will be informed 
by a letter drop to their homes.

Machine Resurfacing – Contact Officer Mr Byron Lovell

Road Name Parish Extent of Works Current Status

Cobham Street Gravesend Full length Completed

Singlewell Road Gravesend Ridgeway Ave to Hever 
Court Road

Programmed 23rd 
April 2018

A227 Wrotham 
Road Roundabout Gravesend

Wrotham Road 
Roundabout junction with 

Coldharbour Lane

Programmed 6th 
May 2018

A2 Watling Street Higham Three Crutches Eastbound 
Slip

Programmed 28th 
April 2018

Footway Improvement - Contact Officer Mr Neil Tree

Lower Road Gravesend

From the junction with 
Lower Road to limit of 

Industrial units (Seacon).
(Footway Reconstruction).

Completed.

St. Hilda’s Way Gravesend

Sections to be identified 
between Valley Drive and
St. Gregory’s Crescent.

(Footway Reconstruction).

To be programmed

Scott Road Vigo

From the junction with 
Livingstone Road to Valley 

Drive.
(Footway Protection).

To be programmed 
(Subject to specialist 

contractor assessment)

Surface Treatments - Contact Officer Mr Clive Lambourne

Micro Surfacing

Prospect Place Gravesend Whole Length Completed

The Street Shorne
From junction with Cob 

Drive to junction with Court 
Lodge

Completed

Jeskyns Road Cobham
From Henhurst Road to 

Road over Pedestrian path 
(Tunnel)

Completed

Page 13



Gywnn Road Northfleet Junction with Hall Road to 
junction with Water Dales Completed

Foxendown Lane Meopham White Hill Road to 
Oakenden Lane Completed

Cross Lane West 
(New House Lane)

Northfleet Meadow Road to Central 
Avenue

To Be Programmed 
for Summer 2018

Oakenden Road Luddedown Foxendown Lane to 
Dean Road

To Be Programmed 
for Summer 2018

Brenchley Avenue Gravesend Singlewell Road to Golf 
Links Avenue

To Be Programmed 
for Summer 2018

Surface Dressing

Leywood Road Luddedown Strawberry Hill to 
Leywood Farm

To Be Programmed 
for July/August 

2018
Dean Road Luddedown Strawberry Hill to 

Oakenden Road
To Be Programmed 

for July/August 
2018

Half Pence Lane Cobham full length -  The Street to 
Brewers Road

To Be Programmed 
for July/August 

2018

Appendix B – Drainage

Drainage Works – Contact Officer Katie Moreton

Road Name Parish Description of Works Current Status

No drainage works planned over £5000

Page 14



Appendix C – Street Lighting

Structural testing of KCC owned street lights has identified the following as requiring 
replacement. Remaining concrete columns are being replaced. A status of complete identifies 
that the column replacement has been carried out. Programme dates are identified for those still 
requiring replacement.

Street Lighting Column Replacement – Contact Officer Sue Kinsella

Road Name Parish Description of Works Status

Cambell Rd Gravesham Replacement of 8 Street Lights

Works 
programmed 
for 
completion 
by June 
2018

Westhill Rd Gravesham Replacement of 1 Street Light

Works 
programmed 
for 
completion 
by May 
2018

Dover Rd East Gravesham Replacement of 1 Street Light Works 
completed

Perry St Gravesham Replacement of 1 Street Light

Works 
programmed 
for 
completion 
by June 
2018

Durndale Lane Painters Ash Replacement of 2 concrete lamp 
column2

Works 
programmed 
for 
completion 
by July 2018

Westcott Ave Woodlands Replacement of 2 concrete lamp 
columns

Works 
programmed 
for 
completion 
by July 2018

York Rd Northfleet 
North

Replacement of 1 concrete lamp 
column

Works 
programmed 
for 
completion 
by July 2018

Page 15



Appendix D – Transportation and Safety Schemes

Casualty Reduction Measures

The Schemes Planning & Delivery team is implementing schemes within Gravesham borough, to 
meet Kent County Council’s (KCC) strategic targets (for example, addressing traffic congestion or 
improving road safety).  Casualty reduction measures have been identified to address a known 
history of personal injury crashes. Current status correct as of 20/04/2018.

Local Transport Plan funded schemes – Contact officer Thomas Williams
Road Name Description of works Current status
Casualty reduction measures (reactive) – 2017/18

London Road, 
Northfleet 

Speed limit reduction 40mph limit to 
30mph. 

Consultation due to start 27th April 
2018

Darnley Road, 
Gravesend

Investigation of modifications of 
Traffic orders regarding the one 
ways on Arthur Street, Cobham 
Street & its junction with Old Road 
West.

On Hold pending traffic outcomes of 
Rathmore Road Major Project.

Valley Drive, 
Gravesend

Installation of illuminated giveaway 
sign and possible removal of barrier. 

Currently outline design phase. Local 
consultation to be carried out on the 
removal of pedestrian railing.  

LTP Schemes 17/18
Istead Rise, 
Meopham

DDA dropped kerb scheme. Currently in the design phase. 

Eternally Funded Schemes

The Schemes Planning & Delivery team is implementing schemes within the borough of 
Gravesham funded by external corporations whilst still meeting KCC’s strategic targets with the 
road network. 

Externally Funded Schemes – Contact Officer Tom Williams Scheme Project Manager

Road Name Description of 
works

Source of funding Status

Granby Road, 
Northfleet

General 
Improvements to the 
area and Granby 
road encompassing 
rejuvenation of 
footways and cycle 
facilities. 

Ebbsfleet 
Development 
Corporation.

Works Complete.  

Ebbsfleet Green 
Corridor 
Improvements Route 
B Phase 1

Footway and footway 
link improvements 
along the A226 
Thames Way. 

Ebbsfleet 
Development 
Corporation.

Handed over to the 
contractor for delivery. 

Ebbsfleet Green 
Corridor 

Cycle facilities 
improvements and 

Ebbsfleet 
Development 

Detailed design and 
currently getting safety 

Page 16



Improvements Route 
B Phase 2

footway 
improvements on 
footway along 
Ebbsfleet Walk. 

Corporation. audited. 

Local Growth Fund

Local Growth Fund programme update for the Gravesham Borough.

The Department for Transport (DfT) added £100m to the Local Growth Fund (LGF) pot in order to 
fund Local Sustainable Transport Fund Style schemes.  KCC subsequently submitted four Local 
Sustainable Transport Fund (LSTF) capital bids 1) East Kent – A network for Growth, 2) Kent 
Thameside – Integrated door-to-door journeys and 3) West Kent – Tackling Congestion.  The 
fourth was for Tonbridge Town Centre Regeneration, which included a highway improvements 
scheme in the Lower High Street as well as additional LSTF style measures.  The objective of all 
of the capital bids is to boost economic growth by decreasing carbon emissions and reducing 
congestion.

The Kent Thameside, West Kent and Tonbridge Town Centre Regeneration bids were all 
successful. The schemes aim to:

 improve access to employment and services
 reduce the need to travel by the private car
 enhance pedestrian, cycle and public transport facilities
 improve sustainable transport connections

The following schemes have been submitted as part of the successful Kent Thameside LSTF this 
financial year.

Scheme Status
Gravesend Wayfinding Signs Completed

Gravesend cycle hub Cycle Hub construction is complete.  

Cycle Hub to Cyclopark cycle route – a 
signed route between the cycle hub and 
Cyclopark which is suitable for less 
confident cyclists.

Consultation has now closed, and a report is being 
complied which will be issued Mid May and can be 
found at www.kent.gov.uk/gravesendcycleroute   
Following the consultation, we have been altered to 
a possible alternative route which is being explored 
at present. Findings will be included in the final 
report.   

Bus Hub – Barrack Row KCC have now completed on and acquired land from 
Network Rail in Barrack Row.  This is necessary for 
the creation of a proposed Bus Hub which aims to be 
a central waiting point for buses and improve the 
waiting facilities for the public.  A consultation on the 
proposal will take place in the Autumn of 2018. 

Page 17

http://www.kent.gov.uk/gravesendcycleroute


Appendix E – Developer Funded Works

Developer Funded Works (Section 278 Agreement Works) – Contact Officer Aaron Divall

Scheme Name Mastergov 
File Ref No

Parish Description of Works Current Status

Wimbourne 
House, Truro 

Road, 
Gravesend

GR003005 Gravesend

Extension of footpath 
from Bellmouth for 

approximately 50m in 
direction of Valley Drive

In Maintenance

BP Tollgate 
Station, 

Wrotham Road, 
Northfleet

GR003009 Northfleet
Creation of new access 

to serve BP Tollgate 
Station

New drawings 
received, awaiting 
technical approval 
and planning

Ebbsfleet United 
FC GR003013 Northfleet Footway works for new 

entrance

Minor works 
complete, finalising 
main s278 works

Lion Roundabout GR003017 Gravesend

Realignment of 
roundabout, removal of 
planters, upgrading of 

pelican crossing to 
toucan and instillation 

of joint 
footway/cycleway 

around roundabout

Legal agreement 
signed, works due 

summer2018

Springhead 
Road junction 
with A2260

GR003020
Gravesend

Swanscombe
Ebbsfleet

New Access onto 
A2260 from Springhead Agreement signed

Allens Mead GR003024 Gravesend Tie in from Dalefield 
Way development In Maintenance

Fenners Marsh GR003028 Gravesend Tie in to private access In Maintenance

Alfred Road GR003018 Gravesend
New footway 

crossovers for new 
development

Footway excavated 
during building works, 

awaiting 
reinstatement

Denton Wharf, 
Mark Lane GR003027 Gravesend New Surface for Port 

authority entrance In Maintenance

Page 18



Appendix F – Bridge Works

Bridge Works – Contact Officer Katie Moreton

Road Name Parish Description of Works Current Status

No works planned

Appendix G – Traffic Systems

There is a programme of scheduled maintenance to refurbish life expired traffic signal equipment across 
the county based upon age and fault history. The delivery of these schemes is dependent upon school 
terms and holiday periods; local residents, businesses and schools will be informed verbally and by a 
letter drop of the exact dates when known. 

Traffic Systems - Contact Officer: Toby Butler
 

Location Description of Works Current Status

No traffic signal refurbishment work being 
carried out this year   

Appendix H - Combined Member Grant program update 
  

  Member Highway Fund programme update for the Gravesham District.

The following schemes are those, which have been approved for funding by both the relevant 
Member and by Roger Wilkins, Director of Highways, Transportation and Waste. The list only 
includes schemes, which are 

 in design 
 at consultation stage
 about to be programmed
 Recently completed on site. 

The list is up to date as of 20/04/2018

The details given below are for highway projects only.  This report does not detail 
 Contributions Members have made to other groups such as parish councils
 highway studies
 traffic/ non-motorised user surveys funded by Members.  

More information on the schemes listed below can be found by contacting the District Manager 
for the Gravesham District Earl Bourner. 

Page 19



Bryan Sweetland
Details of Scheme Status

16-MHF-GR-6 Parking Restrictions, Meopham 
Design, Consultation and Installation of double yellow lines at Biddenden Way/ 
Crockenhall Way and Istead Rise/ Broakside Road. 

Works 
complete.  

Installation of Unsuitable for HGV Signs
Signs to be situated on Watling Road and its roundabout with Halfpence Lane & 
Scalers Hill junction with Scotland Lane.

Works 
ordered 
awaiting 

completion. 

Diane Marsh 
Details of Scheme Status

Installation of school warning sign
Signs to be situated on A226 near St Johns school.

Works 
ordered 
awaiting 

completion.  

 

1.1 Legal Implications

1.1.1 Not applicable.

1.2 Financial and Value for Money Considerations

1.2.1 Not applicable.

1.3 Risk Assessment

1.3.1 Not applicable.

Contacts: Carol Valentine / Earl Bourner 03000 418181

Page 20



Page 21 Agenda Item 6



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Summary of Town Centre Controlled Parking Zone Survey Results:

The survey covered all residents within the existing Town Centre CPZ area, as well as five 
additional areas outside of these where residents had raised concerns about parking 
problems with Gravesham Borough Council. This amounted to 4,284 properties being asked 
to complete a questionnaire about car ownership and parking in their street. We received 
1,215 responses by the deadline, which amounts to an overall response rate of 28.4%. A 
report was prepared by the Council’s consultants, setting out an analysis of these responses 
and the additional comments those who responded had made. There were many different 
views expressed on whether or not to keep controls, whether the controls in place are 
effective, why parking problems exist in certain streets and what needed to be done to 
improve the parking for residents. In some cases, it was felt that the number of residents 
with vehicles and the lack of off-street parking was the main cause of congestion on 
particular roads. In other cases, excess demand on a street was thought to arise from 
outside influences, such as visitor or commuter parking or parking by residents from other 
streets. Clearly a solution to resolve all issues in all cases would be impossible to determine, 
but from the analysis of the results some key recommendations were identified, as follows:
  

1. Split the one large current Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ’s) in to seven smaller zones 
(please see below for the breakdown of the seven zones);

2. Convert all current CPZ’s in to Permit Parking Area (PPA) (please see below for 
details of PPA);

3. Permits within PPAs, to be charged at the current charge for waiver permits (£15 per 
year), but they will only be eligible for parking within the PPA for which they have 
been issued;

4. Visitor permits to be restricted to one per property within each PPA and it should 
again only be eligible for parking within that PPA;

5. PPAs to be signed with a PPA Identifier (e.g.TC01), which will also be printed on 
permits to indicate the permits eligible in that area to help limit non-resident parking;   

 
6. Where requested by residents, introduce extended hours of control from the existing 

one hour to Mon-Sat 8am to 6.30pm to help limit non-resident parking;

7. Modify the boundaries of some Resident Zones and of the new PPAs compared to 
the old CPZs to make the areas more appropriate to the residents parking within that 
PPA;

8. Where controls do not currently exist, but have been requested, implement new 
PPAs with controlled hours of Mon-Sat 8am to 6.30pm; and

9. Where controls are not required and it is unlikely that these areas would suffer from 
displaced parking if controls were removed, remove the existing controls.

What is a Permit Parking Area?

Similar to a Controlled Parking Zone, it is an area with entry and exit 
signs that indicate that permits are required to park on any road 
within the area during the hours of control. The entry signs will state 
the hours of control and the permit code for the permits that are 

eligible within that PPA. In a PPA it is not 

Page 33 Agenda Item 7



necessary to paint resident parking bays on street or to have the single yellow lines, 
but some markings such as Disabled Badge parking bays and double yellow lines at 
junctions will still be present and apply within PPAs. Where a CPZ is switched to a 
PPA, the single yellow lines will no longer be needed. In place of the waiver permits 
previously used in the CPZ areas, which were to be charged at £15 per year, the new 
PPAs will have PPA permits, which will also be charged at £15 per year, but these 
new permits will only be eligible within the PPA for which they have been issued. 
They will also display the vehicle registration.

Why change from a CPZ to a PPA?

The waiver permits and single yellow lines used in Gravesend Town Centre CPZs could not 
restrict the use of a waiver permit to a specific location. Therefore, waiver permit holders 
could park within any of the Town Centre CPZs. This may be the reason for some locations 
within the CPZs having heavier demand for visitor parking as identified by the survey 
responses where respondents felt outside influences increased parking demand in their 
road. It is proposed that each PPA will be signed to indicate the permit code eligible to park 
within that PPA and this permit code will also be shown on the face of the permit (for 
example TC01). This will prevent PPA permit holders travelling throughout the PPA areas to 
other locations where they would like to park, which we believe was part of the reason why 
some roads in the CPZ areas suffering with high parking demand. Residents within a PPA 
will still be able to apply for a visitor permit, which will also show the PPA permit code for 
their own PPA, but this can then be used for their actual visitors, rather than the general use 
of a waiver permit that has previously been possible for parking anywhere throughout the 
Town Centre CPZ areas.

Individual Zone Changes Restriction
Zone TC01  
Albion Road
Albion Terrace
Augustine Road
Brunswick Walk
Milton Road
Norfolk Road

Prospect Grove
Prospect Place
Russell Road
St Johns Road
Suffolk Road

Change CPZ to PPA (TC01)

Keep restrictions as Mon-Fri 10am-
11am

Zone TC02 Restriction 
Alanbrooke
Armoury Drive
Artillery Row
Albert Murray Cl
Belvedere Close

Christchurch Cres
Christchurch Rd
Haig Gardens
Trinity Road

Introduce PPA (TC02) Mon-Sat 8am-
6.30pm for Christchurch Rd, 
Christchurch Cr & Belvedere Close 
ONLY. 

Remove restrictions from existing 
roads. 

Zone TC03 Restriction
Clarence Place
Constitution Hill
Glen View
Hillside Terrace
Leith Park Road
Old Road East
Parrock Road

Sandy Bank 
Road
Shrubbery Road
South Hill Road
Spring Grove
William Street
Spire Close

Change CPZ to PPA (TC03) Mon-Fri 
11am-12pm. 
Move Clarence Place, Windmill 
Street (Nos 62-127) & William St to 
residents parking Zone C (no longer 
part of the CPZ)

Clarence Pl to be removed from 
residents zone B

Page 34



Zone TC04 Restriction
Darnley Rd (east side)
Elmfield Close
Essex Road
Kent Road

Old Road West
Portland Road
Weavers Close
Windmill Street
Wrotham Road

Change CPZ to PPA (TC04) Mon-Sat 
8am–6.30pm

Zone TC05 Restriction
Darnley Road (west 
side)
Lennox Road East

Old Road West
The Avenue Change CPZ to PPA (TC05)

Mon-Sat 8am–6.30pm

Zone TC06 Restriction
Campbell Road
Granville Road
Havelock Road
Mayfield Road
Old Road West

Pelham Road
Stanbrook Road
Bycliffe Terrace
Pelham Terrace

Change CPZ to PPA (TC06) Mon-Sat 
8am–6.30pm

Zone Restriction
Joy Road
Milton Avenue
Park Avenue
Parrock Avenue

Old Manor Drive
The Parrock
Townfield Corner Remove CPZ

Zone TC07 Restriction
Wingfield Road Change CPZ to PPA (TC07) Mon-Sat 

8am–6.30pm
Zone TC08 Restriction
Old Road West
Pinnock’s Avenue
St Thomas’s Ave

Trosley Avenue
Woodfield 
Avenue
Wrotham Road

Introduce PPA (TC08) Mon-Sat 
8am–6.30pm

Zone TC09 Restriction
Bartlett Road
Dashwood Road

Lynton Road 
South Introduce PPA (TC09) Mon-Sat 

8am–6.30pm

Zone TC10
Cecil Road
Churchill Road
Northcote Road

Salisbury Road
Rosebery Court Introduce PPA (TC10) Mon-Sat 

8am–6.30pm

Zone TC11 Restriction
Devonshire Road
Leigh Road
Park Road

Singlewell Road 
(parts) Introduce PPA (TC11) Mon-Sat 

8am–6.30pm

Zone TC12 Restriction
Cumberland Avenue Introduce PPA (CA) Mon-Sat 8am–

6.30pm

Please see map displayed in Civic Centre for further details on zone 
boundaries

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Gravesham Highway Works Programme June 2018
	6 To consider the original JTB Legal Agreement between KCC and GBC with the view to amending it to include some guidance/protocol for petitions coming to the Board. The Board can agree to adopt GBC's procedural rules with regards to petitions or review the agreement (this item was requested at the previous meeting of the Board - minute 73).
	7 Update on the Town Centre Controlled Parking Zone Review

